Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

The Egyptian Journal of Medical Human Genetics

journal homepage: www.sciencedirect.com

MTHFR C677T polymorphism and risk of esophageal cancer: An updated meta-analysis

Pradeep Kumar, Vandana Rai*

Human Molecular Genetics Laboratory, Department of Biotechnology, VBS Purvanchal University, Jaunpur 222 003, UP, India

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 15 February 2018 Accepted 18 April 2018

Keywords: Esophagial cancer MTHFR C677T Meta-analysis Homosycteine

ABSTRACT

Background: Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) is a key enzyme involved in folate/homocysteine metabolism. A polymorphism C677T has been reported to be linked with risk of several diseases/ disorders like birth defects, metabolic and psychiatric disorders and different cancers. The association between esophageal cancer and MTHFR gene C677T polymorphism has been investigated in several case-control studies, which rendered contradictory results.

Aim: To shed light on association between MTHFR C677T polymorphism and risk of esophageal cancer, a meta-analysis of published case control association studies was conducted.

Methods: Four electronic databases: PubMed, Google Scholars, Elsevier and Springer Link were searched up to August 2016. All statistical analyses were performed using MetaAnalyst and Mix (version 1.7). Odds ratios (ORs) with their 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) were calculated. Total twenty-nine studies with 6520 cases and 9192 controls were included in the present meta-analysis.

Results: The results of meta-analysis suggested that there were significant association between C677T polymorphism and esophageal cancer risk using overall comparisons in five genetic models (T vs. C: OR = 1.20, 95% CI = 1.1-1.27, p = <0.0001; TT + CT vs. CC: OR = 1.37, 95% CI = 1.14-1.62, p = 0.0004; TT vs. CC: OR = 1.43, 95% CI = 1.1-1.84, p = 0.005; CT vs. CC OR = 1.35, 95% CI = 1.15-1.58, p = 0.0002; TT vs. CT + CC: OR = 1.19, 95% CI = 0.99-1.42, p = 0.05). Publication bias was absent. Subgroup analysis based on ethnicity and source of controls were also performed.

Conclusion: In conclusion, results of present meta-analysis showed significant association between MTHFR C677T polymorphism and esophageal cancer.

© 2018 Ain Shams University. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	1. Introduction	
2.	2. Methods	
	2.1. Search strategy and identification of studies	
	2.2. Inclusion/exclusion criteria of studies	
	2.3. Data extraction	
	2.4. Statistical analysis	
	2.5. Publication bias	
3.		
	3.1. Characteristics of included studies	
	3.2. Meta-analysis	
	3.3. Subgroup analysis	
	3.4. Heterogeneity and sensitive analysis	
	3.5. Publication bias	
4.	4. Discussion	

Peer review under responsibility of Ain Shams University.

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: raivandana@rediffmail.com (V. Rai).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmhg.2018.04.003



Review





^{1110-8630/© 2018} Ain Shams University. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Conflict of interest.	. 282
Financial Disclosures	. 282
Author's Contribution	. 283
References	. 283

1. Introduction

Esophageal cancer is the sixth most common cancer worldwide, which is characterized by rapid development [1-3] and survival rates for esophageal cancer are quiet poor [4,5]. Its incidence rates vary globally, and the highest rates found in Southern and Eastern Africa and Eastern Asia [3]. Higher incidence of the cancer in certain geographic regions suggests the role of environmental risk factors such as nutritional deficiency, in its pathogenesis [6-9].

Folate deficiency resulting from low consumption of vegetables and fruits is associated with increased risk of esophageal cancer [9]. The biological function of folate is to provide methyl groups, required for DNA methylation and synthesis [10]. Therefore, folate deficiency is thought to be carcinogenic through disruption of DNA methylation, synthesis, and impaired repair. Besides inadequate folate intake, functional polymorphisms in folate metabolizing genes especilaly methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) C677T polymorphism may also influence susceptibility to cancer.

MTHFR is a key enzyme of folate metabolism. It catalyzes irreversible reduction of 5, 10-methylene tetrahydrofolate to 5-methyl tetra-hydro folate, which provides the methyl group with the ability to convert homocysteine to methionine, the precursor of S-adenosyl methionine (SAM). SAM is a universal methyl-group donor for methylation of a wide variety of biological substrates. MTHFR is also involved in production of deoxythymidine monophosphate (dTMP) via thymidylate synthase and purine synthesis. Therefore, MTHFR is also thought to play a role in the provision of nucleotides essential for DNA synthesis and repair [11].

MTHFR gene is located at 1p36.3 [12] and Frosst et al. [11] identified a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), the C to T transition at nucleotide 677 in exon 4 of the MTHFR gene (rs1801133), which results in an alanine (A) to valine (V) substitution (A222V). Individuals with homozygous variant 677TT and heterozygote 677CT genotypes have only about 30% and 65%, respectively, of in vitro enzyme activity as compared to those with 677CC wild type genotype [11]. The frequency of C677T polymorphism varies greatly in different populations [13–15].

Epidemiologic studies have revealed that MTHFR C677T polymorphism is associated with an increased risk of endometrial cancer [16], cervical intraepithelial neoplasia [17], breast cancer [18], gastric cancer [19] and bladder cancer [20] etc. Several case control studies [21–28] were investigated MTHFR gene C677T polymorphism as risk for esophageal cancer but results were contradictory. Hence, we performed a meta-analysis of case-control studies, to obtain a more precise estimation of the relationship between MTHFR C677T polymorphism and esophageal cancer risk.

2. Methods

Meta-analysis was carried out according to MOOSE guidelines [29].

2.1. Search strategy and identification of studies

A literature search of the PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed), Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com), Science Direct (http://www.sciencedirect.com), and Springer Link (http:// link.springer.com) databases (updated to August 2016) was conducted using combinations of the following terms: "polymorphism or variant or mutation" and "Esophageal cancer" and "Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase or MTHFR".

2.2. Inclusion/exclusion criteria of studies

Studies that were included in the present meta-analysis had to meet the following criteria: (1) study should evaluate MTHFR gene C677T polymorphism in esophageal cancer cases, (2) study should be a case-control, and (3) study should report sufficient genotype/ allele numbers for estimation of odds ratio (OR) with a 95% confidence interval (CI). Accordingly, the following exclusion criteria were also used: (1) editorials, abstracts, reviews and linkage or pedigree studies, (2) only cases were reported, and (3) studies that did not report genotype/allele number.

2.3. Data extraction

The following information was extracted from each included study: first author's family name, journal name, year of publication, country name and number of cases and controls. Number of alleles or genotypes in both cases and controls were extracted or calculated from published data to recalculate ORs.

2.4. Statistical analysis

Crude odds ratio with 95% CI were used to assess strength of association between MTHFR C677T genotypes and risk of esophageal cancer in log additive/ allele contrast (T vs C), homozygote (TT vs CC), co-dominant/heterozygote (CT vs CC), dominant (TT + CT vs CC) and recessive (TT vs CT + CC) models. The statistical significance of the pooled OR was determined using a Z test, and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.



Fig. 1. Flow diagram of study search and selection process.

Table 1

Distribution of different genotypes in included thirty-two studies.

Study	Country	Case/Control	Case genotype		Control Genotype			HWE P- value	
			СС	СТ	TT	СС	CT	TT	
Song et al. (2001)	China	240/360	29	118	93	126	172	62	0.82
Miao et al. (2002)	China	217/468	47	107	63	151	217	100	0.18
Wu et al. (2002)	China	93/200	31	47	15	63	99	38	0.93
Stolzenberg et al. (2003)	China	129/398	23	58	48	65	209	124	0.14
Zhang et al. (2003)	China	198/141	16	93	89	25	54	62	0.05
Kureshi et al. (2004)	Pakistan	34/54	22	12	0	32	18	4	0.51
Zhang et al. (2004), China	China	189/141	16	93	80	25	54	62	0.03
Zhang et al. (2004), Germany	Germany	241/256	94	116	31	107	115	34	0.74
Wang et al. (2005)	China	275/315	51	105	119	74	143	98	0.12
Yang et al. (2005)	China	165/493	63	82	20	186	227	80	0.44
Feng et al. (2006)	China	275/315	51	105	119	74	143	98	0.12
Zhang et al. (2006), Kazakh	China	94/98	53	34	7	57	29	12	0.01
Zhang et al. (2006), Han	China	84/57	27	34	23	13	30	14	0.68
He et al. (2007)	China	584/540	73	263	248	119	234	187	0.005
Li et al. (2008)	China	126/169	22	52	52	41	62	66	0.001
Qin et al. (2008)	China	120/240	60	53	7	170	59	11	0.06
Chen et al. (2009)	China	103/181	11	49	43	45	85	51	0.42
Langevin et al. (2009)	Mixed	725/1531	209	328	188	486	731	314	0.19
Wang et al. (2009)	China	102/110	39	47	16	58	36	16	0.01
Umar et al. (2010)	India	208/223	155	48	5	155	63	5	0.63
Cai et al. (2011)	China	125/250	32	66	27	114	95	41	0.007
Li et al. (2011)	China	270/262	112	113	45	95	82	85	000
Zhao et al. (2011)	China	155/310	68	74	13	179	120	11	0.09
Ekiz et al. (2012)	Turkey	26/30	17	9	0	16	12	2	0.9
Jing et al.,2012	China	168/92	75	74	19	37	41	14	0.05
Yang et al. (2012)	China	100/97	37	45	18	40	41	16	0.32
Huang et al. (2013), EPL	China	109/167	52	37	20	90	60	17	0.14
Hunag et al. (2013), ESCC	China	126/167	44	65	17	90	60	17	0.14
Qu et al. (2013)	China	378/425	69	181	128	47	185	193	0.78
Chang et al. (2014)	USA	202/391	65	105	32	135	199	57	0.23
Keld et al. (2014)	UK	44/58	19	20	5	27	27	4	0.42
Tang et al. (2014)	China	615/653	188	288	139	188	348	117	0.06

Control population of these studies was not in Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium.

Table 2

Summary estimates for the odds ratio (OR) of MTHFR C677T in various allele/genotype contrasts, the significance level (p value) of heterogeneity test (Q test), and the l² metric and publication bias p-value (Egger Test).

Genetic models	Fixed effect OR (95% CI), p	Random effect OR (95% Cl), p	Heterogeneity p-value (Q test)	I ² (%)	Publication bias (p of egger's test)
All studies (32)					
Allele Contrast (T vs C)	1.19(1.13-1.24), <0.0001	1.19(1.05-1.32),0.003	< 0.0001	79.66	0.82
Co-dominant (Ct vs CC)	1.23(1.13-1.33),<0.0001	1.29(1.11-1.49),0.0007	< 0.0001	67.52	0.18
Homozygote (TT vs CC)	1.38(1.25-1.52),<0.0001	1.38(1.10-1.72),0.004	< 0.0001	76.69	0.80
Dominant (TT + CT vs CC)	1.27(1.18–1.36),<0.0001	1.3(1.12-1.53),0.0007	< 0.0001	74.62	0.39
Recessive (TT vs CT + CC)	1.21(1.12-1.31),<0.0001	1.18(1.0-1.38),0.04	< 0.0001	70.65	0.37
Asian studies (28)	•				
Allele Contrast (T vs C)	1.2(1.13-1.26),<0.0001	1.2(1.04-1.35),0.01	< 0.0001	82.1	0.76
Co-dominant (Ct vs CC)	1.28(1.17-1.40), <0.0001	1.33(1.11-1.58),0.001	<0.0001	70.57	0.34
Homozygote (TT vs CC)	1.40(1.25-1.56), <0.0001	1.38(1.07-1.82),0.01	< 0.0001	79.44	0.75
Dominant (TT + CT vs CC)	1.31(1.2-1.42), <0.0001	1.34(1.11-1.61),0.002	< 0.0001	77.47	0.52
Recessive (TT vs CT + CC)	1.2(1.10-1.30), <0.0001	1.17(0.97-1.66), 0.0.09	<0.0001	73.88	0.45
Caucasian studies (4)					
Allele Contrast (T vs C)	1.14(1.03-1.23), 0.009	1.14(1.03-1.26), 0.009	0.82	0	0.49
Co-dominant (Ct vs CC)	1.07(0.91-1.25),0.4	1.07(0.91-1.25),0.4	0.97	0	0.5
Homozygote (TT vs CC)	1.31(1.07-1.60),0.009	1.31(1.07-1.60),0.009	0.73	0	0.68
Dominant (TT + CT vs CC)	1.14(0.98-1.320),0.09	1.14(0.98-1.320),0.09	0.96	0	0.49
Recessive (TT vs CT + CC)	1.27(1.06-1.51),0.007	1.27(1.06-1.51),0.007	0.57	0	0.6
Hospital based controls (17)					
Allele Contrast (T vs C)	1.12(1.03-1.20),0.003	1.15(0.98-1.35),0.08	<0.0001	75.43	0.58
Co-dominant (Ct vs CC)	1.2(1.07-1.35),0.001	1.27(1.02-1.57),0.02	<0.0001	67.96	0.35
Homozygote (TT vs CC)	1.15(0.98-1.35),0.07	1.26(0.98-1.71),0.14	<0.0001	66.76	0.77
Dominant (TT + CT vs CC)	1.19(1.07-1.32),0.001	1.25(1.01-1.55),0.03	<0.0001	71.27	0.36
Recessive (TT vs CT + CC)	1.08(0.94-1.24),0.27	1.11(0.85-1.44),0.43	0.0004	61.98	0.99
Population based studies (16)					
Allele Contrast (T vs C)	1.22(1.15-1.29),<0.0001	1.21(1.03-1.39),0.01	<0.0001	82.36	0.71
Co-dominant (Ct vs CC)	1.24(1.11-1.37),<0.0001	1.29(1.05-1.57),0.01	<0.0001	67.22	0.33
Homozygote (TT vs CC)	1.51(1.34-1.70),<0.0001	1.48(1.10-2.00),0.009	<0.0001	80.95	0.74
Dominant (TT + CT vs CC)	1.33(1.20-1.46),<0.0001	1.35(1.08-1.68),0.007	<0.0001	76.65	0.61
Recessive (TT vs CT + CC)	1.27(1.15–1.39),<0.0001	1.26(1.01–1.51),0.03	<0.0001	75.27	0.43

Study Name	N	Confi	idence Interval
Song,2001	1200	2.474	(1.951, 3.138)
Miao,2002	1370	1.443	8 (1.148, 1.813)
Wu,2002	586 —	0.908	8 (0.639, 1.292)
Stolzenberg,2003	1054		8 (0.825, 1.462)
Zhang,2003	678	1.267	(0.918, 1.747)
Kureshi,2004	176	0.676	6 (0.315, 1.451)
Zhang,2004,China	660	1.183	8 (0.856, 1.634)
Zhang,2004,Germany	994	1.053	8 (0.813, 1.363)
Wang,2005	1180	1.422	2 (1.127, 1.796)
Yang,2005	1316 –	0.908	8 (0.702, 1.174)
Feng,2006	1180	1.422	2 (1.127, 1.796)
Zhang,2006,kazakh	384 —	0.925	6 (0.587, 1.458)
Zhang,2006,Han	282	0.878	8 (0.545, 1.413)
He,2007	2248	1.441	(1.215, 1.708)
Li,2008	590	1.206	6 (0.864, 1.683)
Qin,2008	720	1.908	8 (1.318, 2.761)
Chen,2009	568	1.779	(1.249, 2.534)
Langevin,2009	4512	1.183	8 (1.043, 1.340)
Wang,2009	424	1.413	8 (0.946, 2.110)
Umar,2010	862 —	0.828	8 (0.570, 1.203)
Cai,2011	750	1.684	(1.237, 2.293)
Li,2011	1064	0.650	(0.509, 0.830)
Zhao,2011	930	1.603	8 (1.184, 2.170)
Ekiz,2012	112	0.576	6 (0.230, 1.442)
Jing,2012	520 —	0.833	8 (0.573, 1.212)
Yang,2012	394	1.128	8 (0.752, 1.692)
Huang, 2013, EPL	552	1.394	(0.967, 2.011)
Hunag,2013,ESCC	586	1.652	2 (1.167, 2.339)
Qu,2013	1606	0.669	(0.546, 0.820)
Chang,2014	1186	1.078	(0.844, 1.375)
Keld,2014	204 —	1.197	(0.662, 2.166)
Tang,2014	2536	1.060	(0.907, 1.240)
Overall		1.183	8 (1.057, 1.323)
	<u> </u>		
	0.1	1 10	

Fig. 2. Random effect forest plot of allele contrast model (T vs. C) of MTHFR C677T polymorphism.



Fig. 3. Random effect forest plot of homozygote model (TT vs. CC) of MTHFR C677T polymorphism.



Odds Ratio 95% Confidence Interval

Fig. 4. Random effect forest plot of allele contrast model (T vs. C) of Asian studies.

The heterogeneity of these studies was tested by the Q statistic and was considered statistically significant when p < 0.05 [30]. The pooled OR was estimated using the fixed effects model when there was less heterogeneity [31] or random effects model when there was higher heterogeneity [32]. All included studies were tested for genotypic distribution of the MTHFR C677T polymorphism in the control group with the HWE principle using the x²-test, and considered p < 0.05 as statistically significant. Sensitivity analysis was carried out by excluding studies not in HWE [33]. Subgroup analysis was also performed on the basis of ethnicity of subjects and source of controls.

2.5. Publication bias

Funnel plots were used to detect publication bias. However, due to the limitations of funnel plotting, which require a range of studies of varying sizes involving subjective judgments, publication bias was evaluated using Egger's linear regression test [34], which measures funnel plot asymmetry using a natural logarithm scale of OR. Begg's correlation test also was performed [35]. All p-values are two tailed with a significance level at 0.05. All statistical analyses were undertaken by MetaAnalyst [36] and MIX version 1.7 [37].

3. Results

3.1. Characteristics of included studies

Eighty-six studies were retrieved by literature search strategy. Out of these, 29 articles were excluded. The excluded papers included book chapters, reviews, letter to editor and irrelevant articles. After reviewing the abstract and papers of remaining 57 articles, 19 articles were also excluded (11 articles were duplicates and 8 articles were not case control). Further nine studies were excluded from the analysis as they were meta-analyses (Fig. 1). Only 29 articles, qualifying our strict selection criteria, were included in the present meta-analysis [5,21-28,38-57]. Out of 29 studies, 23 studies were carried out on Chinese subjects and remaining studies were carried out in six other countries- Pakistan [22], Germany [42], India [23], Turkey [5], Britain [28], America [56]. Three authors [42,46,55] studied two different population samples, in present meta-analysis we considered each population as individual study/sample. So finally we have thirty-two studies to include in the present meta-analysis. Number of cases, controls and different genotypes data for all these thirty-two studies were tabulated (Table 1).

Overall, thirty-two studies provided 6,520/9192 cases/controls for MTHFR C677T polymorphism. The percentage frequency of TT genotype among cases and controls was 26.52% and 22%, respectively whereas prevalence of CT heterozygotes among cases was 44.8% and 44.1% in controls. The prevalence of CC homozygote among patients and controls was 28.7% and 34.05%, respectively. The prevalence of T allele was 48.9% and 43.9% for the case and control groups, respectively. In all the studies except seven [24,25,42,46–48,52] the distribution of genotypes in the control group was in Hardy Weinberg equilibrium.

3.2. Meta-analysis

A summary of meta-analyses findings regarding associations between the MTHFR C677T polymorphism and esophageal cancer is given in Table 2. Meta-analysis revealed a significant association between esophageal cancer and MTHFR T allele (T vs C) with both fixed effects (OR = 1.19, 95% CI = 1.13–1.24, p < 0.0001) and random effects model (OR = 1.18, 95% CI = 1.05–1.32, p = 0.003) (Fig. 2; Table 2). Results showed an increased risk of oesophageal cancer among mutant homozygote variants (TT vs. CC; homozygote model), with both fixed (OR = 1.38; 95%CI = 1.25–1.523; p = <0.001) and random (OR = 1.38; 95%CI = 1.10–1.72; p = 0.004) effect models (Fig. 3; Table 2).

Combined mutant genotypes (TT + CT vs. CC; dominant model) showed positive significant association with oesophageal cancer using both fixed (OR = 1.27; 95%CI = 1.18–1.36; p = <0.0001) and random (OR = 1.3; 95%CI = 1.12–1.53; p = 0.0007) effect models (Table 2). Similarly the recessive genotypes model (TT vs. CT + CC) also showed significant association with oesophageal cancer with both fixed (OR = 1.21; 95%CI = 1.12–1.31; p = <0.0001) and random (OR = 1.18; 95%CI = 1.0–1.38; p = 0.04) effect models (Table 2).



Odds Ratio 95% Confidence Interval

Fig. 5. Random effect forest plot of allele contrast model (T vs. C) of Caucasian studies.

3.3. Subgroup analysis

We also performed sub-group analysis based on ethnicity and source of controls. Out of 32 studies, 28 studies were from Asia and 4 studies were from Caucasian population. In Asian population (number of studies = 28; 5,308/6956 cases/controls), allele contrast meta-analysis showed significant association adopting both fixed (allele contrast: OR = 1.2; 95% CI = 1.13–1.26; p = <0.0 001) and random (OR = 1.2; 95% CI = 1.04–1.35; p = 0.01) effect models. Combined mutant genotypes also showed significant association with fixed (dominant model: OR = 1.31; 95% CI = 1.2 0-1.4; p < 0.0001) and random (OR = 1.34; 95% CI = 1.11-1.61; p = 0.002) effect models (Fig. 4; Table 2). Results of Caucasian studies (number of studies = 16; 2916/4300 cases/controls) metaanalysis also indicated significant association with both fixed and random effects model (allele contrast: OR = 1.14: 95% CI = 1. 03-1.23: p = 0.009). The combined mutant genotype did not show significant association with fixed and random effect models (dominant model: OR = 1.14; 95% CI = 0.98-1.32; p = 0.09) (Table 2; Fig. 5).

Subgroup analysis based on source of controls was also done. Out of 32 studies, in 17 studies, controls were selected from hospital and in 16 studies controls were selected from the population. Allele contrast meta-analysis of hospital based group, showed significant association adopting fixed effects model (OR = 1.12; 95% CI = 1.03–1.20; p = 0.003) but random effects model did not show significant association (OR = 1.15; 95% CI = 0.98–1.35; p = 0.08) (Table 2; Fig. 6). In population based group, allele contrast metaanalysis showed significant association with both fixed (OR = 1.2; 95% CI = 1.15-1.29; p < 0.0001) and random (OR = 1.2; 95% CI = 1. 03–1.39; p = 0.01) effects models (Table 2; Fig. 7).

3.4. Heterogeneity and sensitive analysis

A true heterogeneity existed for allele ($P_{hetero} = <0.0001$, Q = 152.43, df = 33, $l^2 = 79.66\%$, $t^2 = 0.07$), homozygote ($P_{hetero} = <0.0001$, Q = 132.973, df = 33, $l^2 = 76.69\%$, $t^2 = 0.27$), heterozygote ($P_{hetero} = <0.0001$, Q = 95.54, df = 33, $l^2 = 67.52\%$, $t^2 = 0.11$), mutant genotypes ($P_{hetero} = <0.0001$, Q = 122.15, df = 33, $l^2 = 74.62\%$, $t^2 = 0.14$) and recessive ($P_{hetero} = <0.0001$, Q = 105.62, df = 33, $l^2 = 70.65\%$, $t^2 = 0.13$) comparisons. The ' $l^{2\prime}$ value of more than 50% in both allele and genotype analysis shows high level of true heterogeneity.

In allele contrast meta-analysis, sensitivity analysis performed by exclusion of the studies in which control population was not in Hardy Weinberg equilibrium and studies with small sample size (n (1 0 0). Control population of seven studies [24,25,42,46–48,52], were not in HW equilibrium and heterogeneity did not decrease after exclusion of these studies (p = <0.0001, l² = 79.55%). Exclusion of six studies involving small sample size, <100 (Wu et al. [39], n = 93; Kureshi et al. [22], n = 34; Zhang et al. [46] (Kazakh), n = 94; Zhang et al. [46] (Han), n = 84; Ekiz et al. [5], n = 26; Keld et al., [28], n = 44), heterogeneity did not decrease (P < 0.0001, l² = 82.55%), but odds ratio was increased (OR = 1.23; 95%CI = 1.14–1. 26;p < 0.0001).



Fig. 6. Random effect forest plot of allele contrast model (T vs. C) of studies included hospital based control population.



Fig. 7. Random effect forest plot of allele contrast model (T vs. C) of studies included population based control population.



Fig. 8. Funnel plots of precision by OR of MTHFR C677T allele contrast model (T vs. C).



Fig. 9. Funnel plots of standard error by OR of MTHFR C677T allele contrast model (T vs. C).

3.5. Publication bias

Funnel plots, Begg's and Egger's test were performed to estimate the risk of publication bias. The shape of funnel plots in all contrast models were symmetrical (Table 2; Figs. 8 and 9). In addition, the P values of Egger's test were more than 0.05, which provided statistical evidence for the symmetry of funnel plots in the meta-analysis (p = 0.82 for T vs. C; p = 0.80 for TT vs CC; and p = 0.18 for CT vs. CC; p = 0.39 for TT + CT vs. CC; p = 0.37 for TT vs. CT + CC) (Table 2). Begg's test results also did not show publication bias (p = 0.44 for T vs. C; p = 0.41 for TT vs. CC; and p = 0.91 for CT vs. CC; p = 0.44 for TT + CT vs. CC; p = 0.09 for TT vs. CT + CC).

4. Discussion

Meta-analysis of thirty-two case control association studies revealed that there was a modest significant association between MTHFR C677T polymorphism and susceptibility of esophageal cancer. It was reported very well that folate deficiency and MTHFR C677T polymorphism increased the risk of different types of cancer [10,16–20,58,59]. MTHFR polymorphisms have been shown to modulate risk of cancer with the association being that MTHFR isoforms increase homocysteine levels, which consequently increase the cancer risk [60] by increasing DNA damage and mutations in tumor suppressor genes.

Folate functions as methyl donor in the one carbon metabolism pathway, an essential process in DNA synthesis, repair and methylation and dysregulation of the folate metabolic pathway either due to deficiency of folate or MTHFR C677T polymorphism could result in carcinogenesis [10,61]. There are two important mechanisms by which folate deficiency may influence the risk of cancer: (i) by inducing misincorporation of uracil into DNA, which can lead to chromosomal breaks and mutations [60,62,63], and/or (ii) by causing aberrant DNA methylation, resulting in altered expression of critical proto-oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. Meta-analysis is a powerful tool for summarizing the different studies. It can not only overcome the problem of small size and inadequate statistical power of genetic studies of complex traits but also provide more reliable results than a single case-control study. Several meta-analysis were published which investigated the association between folate pathway genes polymorphisms and different disease/disorders like- down syndrome [64–66], cleft lip and palate [67,68], recurrent pregnancy loss [69], male infertility [70], neurodegenerative disorders [71], psychiatric disorders [72–75], and different cancers [76–80].

Seven meta-analyses [51,81–86] examined the effect of MTHFR C677T polymorphism on esophageal cancer risk, but no consistent conclusion was achieved. The discrepancy of results may be due to the difference in ethnic background and environmental exposure as well as dietary intake of folate, smoking status and use of alcohol.

In interpretation of results of present meta-analysis, some limitations should be considered like- (i) crude OR was used, (ii) higher heterogeneity was present, (iii) only four databases were searched for articles, (iv) single gene polymorphism was considered, (vi) all case control studies were from Asian and Caucasian populations, African studies were not included and (vii) genegene and gene-environment interactions were not considered.

In conclusion, present meta-analysis supports the hypothesis that MTHFR C677T polymorphism may play a role in the etiology of esophageal cancer. Large studies that assess the interrelations between folate intake, MTHFR polymorphism, alcohol intake and smoking are needed to further clarify the role of MTHFR polymorphism in the development of esophageal cancer.

Conflict of interest

None.

Financial Disclosures

None.

Author's Contribution

VR: Concept and design, drafting the article, interpretation of data; PK: Interpretation of data, article drafting.

References

- McCabe ML, Dlamini Z. The molecular mechanisms of oesophageal cancer. Int Immunopharmacol 2005;5:1113–30.
- [2] Hiyama T, Yoshihara M, Tanaka S, Chayama K. Genetic polymorphisms and esophageal cancer risk. Int J Cancer 2007;121:1643–58.
- [3] Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin 2011;61:69–90.
- [4] Corley DA, Buffler PA. Oesophageal and gastric cardia adenocarcinomas: analysis of regional variation using the Cancer Incidence in Five Continents database. Int J Epidemiol 2001;30:1415–25.
- [5] Ekiz F, Ormeci N, Coban S, Karabulu HG, Aktas B, Tukun A, et al. Association of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T–A1298C polymorphisms with risk for esophageal adenocarcinoma, Barrett's esophagus, and reflux esophagitis. Dis Esophagus 2012;25:437–41.
- [6] Lu SH, Chui SX, Yang WX, Hu XN, Guo LP, Li FM. Relevance of N-nitrosamines to esophageal cancer in China. IARC Sci Publ 1991;105:11–7.
- [7] Yoshizawa T, Yamashita A, Luo Y. Fumonisin occurrence in corn from high- and low-risk areas for human esophageal cancer in China. Appl Environ Microbiol 1994;60:1626–9.
- [8] Cheng KK, Day NE. Nutrition and esophageal cancer. Cancer Causes Control 1996;7:33–40.
- [9] Gallus S, La Vecchia C. Is there a link between diet and esophageal cancer? Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007;4:2–3.
- [10] Choi SW, Mason JB. Folate and carcinogenesis: an integrated scheme. J Nutr 2000;130:129–32.
- [11] Frosst P, Blom HJ, Milos R, Goyette P, Sheppard CA, Matthews RG, et al. A candidate genetic risk factor for vascular disease: a common mutation in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. Nat Genet 1995;10:111–3.
- [12] Goyette P, Sumner JS, Milos R, Duncan AM, Rosenblatt DS, Matthews RG, et al. Human methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase: isolation of cDNA mapping and mutation identification. Nat Genet 1994;7:551.
- [13] Rai V, Yadav U, Kumar P, Yadav SK. Methyleletetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphism (C677T) in Muslim population of Eastern Uttar Pradesh. India Ind J Med Sci 2010;64(5):219–23.
- [14] Rai V, Yadav U, Kumar P. Genotype Prevalence and Allele Frequencies of 5,10-Methylenetetrahydrofolate Reductase (MTHFR) C677T Mutation in two Caste Groups of India. Cell Mol Biol 2012;58. OL1695- 701.
- [15] Yadav U, Kumar P, Gupta S, Rai V. Distribution of MTHFR C677T gene polymorphism in healthy north indian population and an updated metaanalysis. Ind J Clin Biochem 2017;32(4):399–410.
- [16] Esteller M, Garcia A, Martinez-Palones JM, Xercavins J, Reventos J. Germ line polymorephisms in cytochrome P450 1A1(C4887 CYPIA1) and methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) genes and endometral cancer susceptibility. Carcinogenesis 1997;18:2307–11.
- [17] Piyathilake CJ, Macakuso M, Johanning GL, Whiteside M, Heimburger DC, Giuliano A. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) polymorphism increases the risk of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. Anticancer Res 2000;20:1751–7.
- [18] Lajin B, Sakur AA, Ghabreau L, Alachkar A. Association of polymorphisms in one-carbon metabolizing genes with breast cancer risk in Syrian women. Tumor Biol 2012;33:1133–9.
- [19] Shen H, Xu Y, Zheng Y, Qian Y, Yu R, Qin Y, et al. Polymorphisms of 5,10-Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and risk of gastric cancer in a Chinese population a case-control study. Int J Cancer 2001;95:332–6.
- [20] Lin J, Spitz MR, Wang Y, Schabath MB, Gorlov IP, Hernandez LM, et al. Polymorphisms of folate metabolic genes and susceptibility to bladder cancer.: a case –control study. Carcinogenesis 2004;25:1639–47.
- [21] Song C, Xing D, Tan W, Wei Q, Lin D. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphisms increase risk of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma in a Chinese population. Cancer Res 2001;61:3272–5.
- [22] Kureshi N, Ghaffar S, Siddiqui S, Salahuddin I, Frossard PM. Head and neck cancer susceptibility: a genetic marker in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec 2004;66:241–5.
- [23] Umar M, Upadhyay R, Khurana R, Kumar S, Ghoshal UC, Mittal B. Evaluation of MTHFR677C>T polymorphism in prediction and prognosis of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma: a case-control study in a northern Indian population. Nutr. Cancer 2010;62:743–9.
- [24] Cai JF, Qin JM, Liao PH, Zeng T-X, Liu X, Feng Li. Value of detection of HLA, other immune-related genes and MTHFR in the screening of esophageal cancer in Xinjiang Kazakh population. World Chin J Digestol. 2011;19:2572–6.
- [25] Li QD, Li H, Wang MS, Diao TY, Zhou ZY, Fang QX, et al. Multi-susceptibility genes associated with the risk of the development stages of esophageal squamous cell cancer in Feicheng County. BMC Gastroenterol 2011;11:74.
- [26] Zhao P, Lin F, Li Z, Lin B, Lin J, Luo R. Folate intake, methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphisms, and risk of esophageal cancer. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2011;12:2019–23.

- [27] Qu HH, Cui LH, Wang K, Wang P, Song CH, Wang KJ, et al. The methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T polymorphism influences risk of esophageal cancer in Chinese. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2013;14:3163–8.
- [28] Keld R, Thian M, Hau C, Sajid J, Kumar N, Ang Y. Polymorphisms of MTHFR and susceptibility to oesophageal adenocarcinoma in a Caucasian United Kingdom population. World J Gastroenterol 2014;20(34):12212–6.
- [29] Stroup DF, Berlin JÅ, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, et al. Metaanalysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA 2000;283(15):2008–12.
- [30] Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ 2003;327:557–60.
- [31] Mantel N, Haenszel W. Statistical aspects of the analysis of data from retrospective studies of disease. J Natl Cancer Inst 1959;22(4):719–48.
- [32] DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Control Clin Trials 1986;7:177–88.
- [33] Thakkinstian A, McEvoy M, Minelli C, Gibson P, Hancox B, Duffy D, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the association between β2adrenoceptor polymorphisms and asthma: a HuGE review. Am J Epidemiol 2005;162:201–11.
- [34] Egger M, Smith DJ, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. BMJ 1997;315(7109):629–34.
- [35] Begg CB, Mazumdar M. Operating characteristics of a rank correlation test for publication bias. Biometrics 1994;50:1088–101.
- [36] Wallace BC, Dahabreh IJ, Trikalinos TA, Lau J, Trow P, Schmid CH. Closing the gap between methodologists and end-users: r as a computational back-end. J Stat Software 2013;49:1–15.
- [37] Bax L, Yu LM, Ikeda N, Tsuruta H, Moons KG. Development and validation of MIX: comprehensive free software for meta-analysis of causal research data. BMC Med Res Method 2006;6:50.
- [38] Miao XP, Xing DY, Tan W, Qi J, Lu W, Lin D. Susceptibility to gastric cardia adenocarcinoma and genetic polymorphisms in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase in an at-risk chinese population. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2002;11:1454–8.
- [39] Wu JZ, Gao CM, Ding JH, Wang FZ, Fan M. Polymorphisms of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T and the risk of esophageal cancer. Tumor 2002;22:268–70.
- [40] Stolzenberg-Solomon RZ, Qiao YL, Abnet CC, Ratnasinghe DL, Dawsey SM, Dong ZW, et al. Esophageal and gastric cardia cancer risk and folate- and vitamin B(12)-related polymorphisms in Linxian, China. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2003;12:1222–6.
- [41] Zhang JH, Li Y, Guo W, Wang R, Sarbia M, Kiel S, et al. The Association of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T polymorphism and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma analyzed by light cycler. Prog Biochem Biophys 2003;30(555–9):25.
- [42] Zhang J, Zotz RB, Li Y, Wang R, Kiel S, Schulz WA, et al. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T polymorphism and predisposition towards esophageal squamous cell carcinoma in a German Caucasian and a northern Chinese population. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2004;130:574–80.
- [43] Wang LD, Guo RF, Fan ZM, He X, Gao SS, Guo HQ, et al. Association of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and thymidylate synthase promoter polymorphisms with genetic susceptibility to esophageal and cardia cancer in a Chinese high-risk population. Dis Esophagus 2005;18:177–84.
- [44] Yang CX, Matsuo K, Ito H, Shinoda M, Hatooka S, Hirose K, et al. Geneenvironment interactions between alcohol drinking and the MTHFR C677T polymorphism impact on esophageal cancer risk: results of a case-control study in Japan. Carcinogenesis 2005;26:1285–90.
- [45] Feng CW, Fan ZM, Gao SS, He X, Huaqin G, Yin LM, et al. Analysis of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and thymidylate synthase gene polymorphisms of esophageal and cardia cancerpatients. J Zhengzhou Univ (Med Sci) 2006;41:10–4.
- [46] Zhang JF, Pang LJ, Zhao J, Chen X-C, Gu L-Y, Ge C-M, et al. Association of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T polymorphism with susceptibility to esophageal caner in Kazakh and Han populations in Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region. World Chin J Digestol 2006;15:1475–80.
- [47] He YT, Wang YM, Zhang JH, Li Y, Guo W, Wang N. Correlation between a polymorphism in the methylene tetrahydrofolate reductase gene and susceptibility to carcinoma of the esophagus and gastric cardia. Chin J Clin Oncol 2007;34:194–7.
- [48] Li DQ, Diao YT, Fang X, Li H. Association of the Polymorphisms of MTHFR C677T, VDR C352T, and MPO G463A with Risk for Esophageal Squamous Cell Dysplasia and Carcinoma. Arch Med Res 2008;39:e594–600.
- [49] Qin JM, Yang L, Chen B, et al. Interaction of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T, cytochrome P4502E1 polymorphism and environment factors in esophageal cancer in Kazakh population. World J Gastroenterol 2008;14:6986–92.
- [50] Chen Y, Yin D, Deng YC, A HL, Wang HJ, Ma YQ, et al. Relationship between MTHFR gene polymorphisms and susceptibility of esophageal cancer of Han nationality in Xinjiang. J Toxicol. 2009; 23(6):429–432.
- [51] Langevin SM, Lin D, Matsuo K, Gao CM, Takezaki T, Stolzenberg-Solomon RZ, et al. Review and pooled analysis of studies on MTHFR C677T polymorphism and esophageal cancer. Toxicol Lett 2009;184(2):73–80.
- [52] Wang J, Sasco AJ, Fu C, Xue H, Guo G, Hua Z, et al. Aberrant DNA methylation of P16, MGMT, and hMLH1 genes in combination with MTHFR C677T genetic

polymorphism in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2009;17:118–25.

- [53] Jing C, Huang Z, Duan Y, Xiao X, Zhang R, Jiang J. Folate intake, methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphisms in association with the prognosis of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. APJCP 2012;13:647–51.
- [54] Yang JB, Shen YW, Zeng M, et al. Relationship between MTHFR C677T polymorphisms and susceptibility of esophageal cancer in north Sichuan population. Sichuan Med 2012;33:26–7.
- [55] Huang MC, Chang W, Han CY, Wang SY. Esophageal cancer: common health problems and health management. Hu Li Za Zhi 2013;60(1):99–104.
- [56] Chang SC, Chang PY, Butler B, Goldstein BY, Mu L, Cai L, et al. Single nucleotide polymorphisms of one-carbon metabolism and cancers of the esophagus, stomach, and liver in a chinese population. PLoS ONE 2014;9:e109235.
- [57] Tang W, Zhang S, Qiu H, Wang L, Sun B, Yin J, et al. Genetic variations in MTHFR and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma susceptibility in Chinese Han population. Med Oncol 2014;31:915.
- [58] Larsson SC, Giovannucci E, Wolk A. Folate intake, MTHFR polymorphisms, and risk of esophageal, gastric, and pancreatic cancer: a meta-analysis. Gastroenterology 2006;131:1271–83.
- [59] Ulrich CM. Folate and cancer prevention: a closer look at a complex picture. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;86(2):271–3.
- [60] Kim YI. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphisms, folate, and cancer risk: a paradigm of gene-nutrient interactions in carcinogenesis. Nutr Rev 2000;58:205–9.
- [61] Jackson MD, Tulloch-Reid MK, McFarlane-Anderson N, Watson A, Seers V, Bennett FI, et al. Complex interaction between serum folate levels and genetic polymorphisms in folate pathway genes: biomarkers of prostate cancer aggressiveness. Genes Nutr 2013;8(2):199–207.
- [62] Mattson MP, Shea TB. Folate and homocysteine metabolism in neural plasticity and neurodegenerative disorders. Trends Neurosci 2003;26(3):137–46.
- [63] Duthie SJ. Folate and cancer: how DNA damage, repair and methylation impact on colon carcinogenesis. | Inherit Metab Dis 2011;34:101–9.
- [64] Rai V. Polymorphism in folate metabolic pathway gene as maternal risk factor for Down syndrome. Int J Biol Med Res 2011;2(4):1055–60.
- [65] Rai V, Kumar P. Fetal MTHFR C677T polymorphism confers no susceptibility to Down Syndrome: evidence from meta-analysis. Egyptian J Med Hum Genet 2017. doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmhg.2017.06.006.
- [66] Rai V, Yadva U, Kumar P. Null association of maternal MTHFR A1298C polymorphism with Down syndrome pregnancy: an updated meta-analysis. Egyp J Med Hum Genet 2017;18(1):9–18.
- [67] Rai V. Maternal methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) gene A1298C polymorphism and risk of nonsyndromic Cleft lip and/or Palate (NSCL/P) in offspring; a meta-analysis. Asian J Med Sci 2014;6(1):16–21.
- [68] Rai V. Strong association of C677T polymorphism of ethylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene with nosyndromic cleft lip/palate (nsCL/P). Ind J Clin Biochem 2017:1–11.
- [69] Rai V. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T polymorphism and recurrent pregnancy loss risk in Asian population: a meta-analysis. Indian J Clin Biochem 2016;31:402–13.
- [70] Rai V, Kumar P. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T polymorphism and risk of male infertility in Asian population. Ind J Clin Biochem 2017;32 (3):253–60.

- [71] Rai V. Folate pathway gene methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T polymorphism and Alzheimer disease risk in Asian population. Indian J Clin Biochem 2016;31(3):245–52.
- [72] Rai V. Genetic polymorphisms of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) gene and susceptibility to depression in Asian population: a systematic meta-analysis. Cell Mol Biol 2014;60(3):29–36.
- [73] Rai V. Association of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) gene C677T polymorphism with autism: evidence of genetic susceptibility. Metab Brain Dis 2016;31:727–35.
- [74] Yadav U, Kumar P, Gupta S, Rai V. Role of MTHFR C677T gene polymorphism in the susceptibility of schizophrenia: an updated meta-analysis. Asian J Psychiatry 2016;20:41–51.
- [75] Rai V, Yadav U, Kumar P, Yadav SK, Gupta S. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase A1298C genetic variant and risk of schizophrenia: an updated metaanalysis. Ind J Med Res 2017;145(4):437.
- [76] Rai V. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase A1298C polymorphism and breast cancer risk: a meta-analysis of 33 studies. Ann Med Health Sci Res 2014;4 (6):841–51.
- [77] Kumar P, Yadav U, Rai V. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene C677T polymorphism and breast cancer risk: evidence for genetic susceptibility. Meta Gene 2015;6:72–84.
- [78] Rai V. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene C677T polymorphism and its association with ovary cancer. J Health Med Inform 2016;7:3.
- [79] Yadav U, Kumar P, Rai V. Role of MTHFR A1298C gene polymorphism in the etiology of prostate cancer: a systematic review and updated meta-analysis. Egyp J Med Hum Genet 2016;17:141–8.
- [80] Rai V. Evaluation of the MTHFR C677T polymorphism as a risk factor for colorectal cancer in asian populations. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2016;16 (18):8093–100.
- [81] Fang Y, Xiao F, An Z, Hao L. Systematic review on the relationship between genetic polymorphisms of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev 2011;12:1861–6.
- [82] Liu YX, Wang B, Wan MH, Tang WF, Huang FK, Li C. Meta-analysis of the relationship between the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T genetic polymorphism, folate intake and esophageal cancer. Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev 2011;12:247–52.
- [83] Shujuan Y, Yuanyuan W, Jianxing Z, Xin-yue C. Association of Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase genetic polymorphisms and folate intake with susceptibility of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma: a metaanalysis. Pak J Med Sci 2013;29(2):693–8.
- [84] Wen YY, Shu-Juan Yang SJ, Zhang JX, Chen XY. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase genetic polymorphisms and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma susceptibility: a meta-analysis of case-control studies. Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev 2013;14(1):21–5.
- [85] Yang YB, Shang YH, Tan YL, Kang XJ, Meng M, Zhao ZX. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphisms and susceptibility to esophageal cancer in chinese populations: a meta-analysis. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2014;15(3):1345–9.
- [86] Yang Z, Wang X, Li S. Methylene tetrahydrofolate reductasel reductase C677T polymorphisms and esophageal cancer susceptibility: a meta analysis based on Chinese han population. Indian J Cancer 2015;52:e26–8.